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lawyers, and other people of that class. The Comte
d’Artois, holding the contrary opinion, presented
a memorial in the names of himself and several
Princes of the blood to the King against the double
representation. The Queen was displeased with
him for this; her confidential advisers infused into
her apprehensions that the Prince was made the
tool of a party; but his conduct was approved of
by Madame de Polignac’s circle, which the Queen -
thenceforward only frequented to avoid the appear-
ance of a change in her habits. She almost always
returned unhappy ; she was treated with the pro-
found respect due to a Queen, but the devotion of
friendship had vanished, to make way for the cold-
ness of etiquette, which wounded her deeply. The
alienation between her and the Comte d’Artois was
also 'very painful to her, for she had loved him as
tenderly as if he had been her own brother.

The opening of the States-General took place on
the 4th of May 1789. The Queen on that occasion
appeared for the last time in her life in regal mag-
nificence. During the procession some low women,
seeing the Queen pass, cried out, “ Vive le Duc
d'Oxléans !” in so threatening a manner that she
nearly fainted. She was obliged to be supported,
and those about her were afraid it would be necessary
to stop the procession. The Queen, however, re-
covered hérself, and much regretted that she had
not been able to command more presence of mind.!

! The rapidly-increasing distrust of the King and Queen
shown by the populace was greatly attributable to incessant
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The first sitting of the States took place on the
following day. The King delivered his speech with
firmness and dignity ; the Queen told me that he
had taken great pains about it, and had repeated it
frequently. His Majesty gave public marks of
attachment and respect for the Queen, who was
applauded ; but it was easy to see that this applause
was in fact rendered to the King alone.

It was evident, during the first sittings, that
Mirabeau would be very dangerous to government.
It is affirmed that at this period he communicated

corruption by English gold, and the projects, either of revenge or
of ambition, of the Duc d’Orléans, Let it not be thought that
this accusation is founded on what has been so often repeated
by the heads of the French Government since the Revolution.
Twice, between the 14th July and the 6th October 1789, the
day on which the Court was dragged to Paris, the Queen pre-
vented me from making little excursions thither of business or
pleasure, saying to me, “ Do not go on such a day to Paris ; the
English have been scattering gold, we shall have some disturb-
ance.” The repeated visits of the Duc d'Orléans to England
had excited the Anglomania to such a pitch that Paris was no
longer distinguishable from London. The French, formerly
imitated by the whole of Europe, became on a sudden a nation
of imitators, without considering the evils that arts and manu-
factures must suffer in consequence of the change. Since the
treaty of commerce made with England at the peace of 1783,
not merely equipages, but everything, even to ribands and com-
mon earthenware, were of English make. If this predominance
of English fashions had been confined to filling our drawing-
rooms with young men in English frock-coats, instead of the
French dress, good taste and commerce might alone have
suffered ; but the principles of English government had taken
possession of these young heads— Constitution, *Upper House,
Lower House, national guarantee, balanwe of power, Magna
Charta, Law of Habeas Corpus, all these words were incessantly
repeated, and seldom understood ; but they were of fundamental
importance’ to a party which was then forming.— Madame
Campan. ‘

€
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to the King, and still more fully to the Queen, part
of his schemes for abandoning them. He brandished
the weapons afforded him by his eloquence and
audacity, in order to make terms with the party he
meant to attack. This man played the game of
revolution to make his own fortune. The Queen
told me that he asked for an embassy, and, if my
memory does not deceive me, it was that of Con-
stantinople. He was refused with well-deserved
contempt, though policy would doubtless have con-
cealed it, could the future have been foreseen.!

The enthusiasm prevailing at the opening of
this assembly, and the debates between the Zzers-
¢tat, the nobility, and even the clergy, daily in-
creased the alarm of their Majesties, and all who
were attached to the cause of monarchy. The
Queen went to bed late, or rather she began to be
unable to rest. One evening, about the end of
May, she was sitting in her room, relating several
remarkable occurrences of the day ; four wax candles
were placed upon her toilette table ; the first went out
of itself; I re-lighted it; shortly afterwards the second,
and then the third went out also; upon whieh the
Queen, squeezing my hand in terror, said to me:
“ Misfortune makes us superstitious ; if the fourth
taper should go out like the rest, nothing can pre-
vent my looking upon it as a sinister omen.” The
fourth taper went out. It was remarked to the

! For further information on this subject the reader is
referred to the Memoirs of Madame Junot (Duchesse d’ Abrantes),
vol. i. pp. 48-52 of the English edition, published in 1883.

]
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Queen that the four tapers had probably been run
in the same mould, and that a defect in the wick
had naturally occurred at the same point in each,
since the candles had all gone out in the order in
which they had been lighted.

The deputies of the Zzers-état arrived at Ver-
sailles full of the strongest prejudices against the
Court. They believed that the King indulged in
the pleasures of the table to a shameful excess;
and that the Queen was draining the treasury of
the State in order to satisfy the most unbridled
luxury. They almost all determined to see Petit
Trianon. The extreme plainness of the retreat in
question not answering the ideas they had formed,
some of them insisted upon seeing the very smallest
closets, saying that the richly-furnished apartments
were concealed from them. They particularised
one which, according to them, was ornamented with
diamonds, and with wreathed columns studded with
sapphires and rubies. The Queen could not get
these foolish ideas out of her mind, and spoke to the
King on the subject. From the description given
of this room by the deputies to the keepers of
Trianon, the King concluded that they were look-
ing for the scene enriched with paste ornaments,
made in the reign of Louis XV. for the theatre of
Fontainebleau.'

.. 1 “An idea may be formed,” says Montjoie, “of the

life led by the Queen after the opening of the States-General
by what she described to the Duchesse de Polignac. In one
letter she writes: ‘ My health still lasts, but my mind is over-
whelmed with troubles, annoyances, and alarms; every day I

L3
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The King supposed that his Body Guards, on
their return to the country, after their quarterly
duty at Court, related what they had seen, and
that their exaggerated accounts being repeated be-
came at last totally perverted. This idea of the
King, after the search for the diamond chamber,
suggested to the Queen that the report of the King'’s
propensity for drinking also sprang from the guards
who accompanied his carriage when he hunted at
Rambouillet. The King, who disliked sleeping out
of his usual bed, was accustomed to leave that hunt-
ing seat after supper; he generally slept soundly in
his carriage, and awoke only on his arrival at the
courtyard of his palace ; he used to get down from
his carriage in the midst of his Body Guards,
staggering, as a man half awake will do, which was
mistaken for intoxication.

The majority of the deputies who came imbued

learn new misfortunes, and for me one of the greatest is to be
separated from all my friends. No longer do T meet hearts that
sympathise with me.” In another she wrote: ¢All your letters
to M give me great pleasure: I see at least your writing,
I read that you love me, and that does me good. Be tranquil:
adversity has not diminished my strength and my courage, and
it*has increased my prudence.””—Note by the Editor.

1 Boursault’s play of .#sop at Court contains a scene in which
the prince permits the courtiers to tell him his failings. They all
join chorus in praising him beyond measure, with the exception
of one, who reproaches him with getting intoxicated, a dangerous
vice in any one, but especially in a king. Louis XV., in whom
that disgusting propensity had almost grown into a habit from
the year 1739, found fault with Boursault’s piece, and forbade its
performance at Court, After the death of that King, Louis XVL
commanded Zsop at Court for performance, found the play full
of good sense, and directed that it should be often performed
before him.— Noze b{ the Editor.

. "
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with prejudices produced by error or malevolence
went to lodge with the most humble private indi-
viduals of Versailles, whose inconsiderate conversa-

" tion contributed not a little to nourish such mistakes.

i Everything, in short, tended to render the deputies
subservient to the schemes of the leaders of the
rebellion.

Shortly after the opening of the States-General
the first Dauphin died. That young Prince suffered
from the rickets, which in a few months curved

" his spine, and rendered his legs so weak that he

could not walk without being supported like a
feeble old man.! How many maternal tears did
his condition draw from the Queen, already over-
whelmed with apprehensions respecting the state
of the kingdom! Her grief was enhanced by petty
intrigues, which, when frequently renewed, became
intolerable. An open quarrel between the families
and friends of the Duc d’Harcourt, the Dauphin’s
governor, and those of the Duchesse de Polignac,
his governess, added greatly to the Queen’s afflic-

1 Louis, Dauphin of France, who died at Versailles on the
4th of June 1789, gave promise of intellectual precocity. The
following particulars, which convey some idea of his disposition,
and of the assiduous attention bestowed upon him by the Duchesse
de Polignac, will be found in a work of that time :—* At two years
old the Dauphin was very pretty : he articulated well, and answered
questions put to him intelligently. While he was at the Chiteau
de La Muette everybody was at liberty to see him. Haviog re-
ceived, in the presence of the visitors, a box of sweetmeats sent
him by the Queen with her portrait upor. it, he said, “ 4%/ thats
mamma’s picture”’ The Dauphin was dressed plainly, like a sailor ;
there was nothing to distinguish him from other children in ex-
ternal appearance but the cross of Saint Louis, the blue ribbon,

.
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tion. The young Prince showed a strong dislike
to the Duchesse de Polignac, who attributed it
either to the Duc or the Duchesse d’'Harcourt, and
came to make her complaints respecting’it to the
Queen. The’ Dauphin twice sent her out of his
room, saying to her, with that maturity of manner
which long illness always gives to children: ““Go
out, Duchess, you are so fond of using perfumes,
and they always make me ill;” and yet she never
used anyv. The Queen perceived, also, that his
prejudices against her friend extended to herself ;-
her son would no longer speak in her presence.
She knew that he had become fond of sweetmeats,
and offered him some marsh-mallow and jujube
lozenges. The under-governors and the first valet
de chambre requested her not to give the Dau-
phin anything, as he was to receive no food of
any kind without the consent of the faculty. I
forbear to describe the wound this prohibition in-
flicted upon the Queen; she felt it the more

and the Order of the Fleece, decorations that are the distinctive
signs of his rank. The Duchesse Jules de Polignac, his gover-
ness, scarcely ever left him for a single instant: she gave up all
the Court excursions and amusements in order to devote her whole
attention to him. The Prince always manifested a great regard
for M. de Bourset, his zalet de chambre. During the illness of
which he died, he one day asked for a pair of scissors; that
gentleman reminded him that they were forbidden. The child
insisted mildly, and they were obliged to yield to him. Having
got the scissors, he cut off a lock of his hair, which he wrapped
In a sheet of paper: ‘There, sir,’ said he to his valet de chambre,
“there is the only present I can make you, having nothing at my
command ; but when I am dead you will present this pledge to
my papa and mamma ; and while they remember me, I hope they
will not forget you.” >—Note by the Editor.

VOL. 1I. . 29
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deeply because she was aware it was unjustly
believed she gave a decided preference to the
Duke of Normandy, whose ruddy heaith and amia- g
bility did, in truth, form a striking contrast to the
languid look and melancholy disposition of his elder
. brother. She could not doubt that a plot had for
some time existed to deprive her of the affection
of a child whom she loved as a good and tender
mother ought. Previous to the audience granted
by the King on the 1oth August 1788 to the envoy
-of the Sultan Tippoo Saib, she had begged the Duc
d'Harcourt to divert the Dauphin, whose deformity
was already apparent, from his intention to be pre-
sent at that ceremony, being unwilling to expose
him to the gaze of the crowd of inquisitive Parisians
who would be in the gallery. Notwithstanding this
injunction the Dauphin was suffered to write to his
mother, requesting her permission to be present at
the audience. The Queen was obliged to refuse
him, and warmly reproached the governor, who
merely answered, that he could not oppose the
wishes of a sick child. A year before the death of
the Dauphin the Queen lost the Princesse Sophie ;
this was, as the Queen said, the first of a series of
misfortunes.*

1 The article on Louis XVL in the Biographie Universelle
makes no mention of the Princesse Sophie. “This Prince,” says
the work in question, “had three children: Louis, the Dauphin,
who died in 1789 ; Louis XVIL ; and Marie Thérése Charlotte,
now Duchesse d’Angouléme.” The omission is of little import-
-ance ; 'but we are surprised, when the family of Louis XVI. is
spoken of, to meet with a mistake in an article signed Bonald.
—Note by the Editor.
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¢ Qath of the Tennis Court ”—Insurrection of the 14th of July—The
King goes to the National Assembly—Anecdotes—Spectacle
presented by the courtyards of the Chiteau of Versailles—
Report that the National Assembly is threatened—The King's
speech rebutting these suspicions—Anecdotes—Disposition of
the troops— Departure of the Comte d’Artois, the Prince de
Condé, and the Duc and Duchesse de Polignac—The latter is
recognised by a postilion, who saves her—The King goes to
Paris—Alarm at Versailles—The Queen determines to go to
the National Assembly—Speech prepared by her—The King’s
return—DBailly’s speech—Assassination of Messieurs Foulon and
Berthier—Plans presented by Foulon to the King for arresting
the progress of the Revolution—Remark by Barnave— His
repentance.

THE ever memorable oath of the States-General,
taken at the Tennis Court of Versailles, was followed
by the royal sitting of the 23d of June.! The Queen -
looked on M. Necker’s not accompanying the King
as treachery or criminal cowardice : she said that he
had converted a remedy into poison; that being in
full popularity his audacity, in openly disavowing the
step taken by his sovereign, had emboldened the
factious, and led away the whole Assembly; and
that he was theé more culpable inasmuch as he had

! In this séance the King declared that the orders must vote
separately, and threatened, if further obstacles were met with, to
act for the good of the people.

E
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the evening before given her his word to accompany

‘the King. 1In vain did M. Necker endeavour to
excuse himself by saying that his advice had not
been followed.

Soon afterwards the insurrections of the 11th,
12th, and 14th of July® opened the disastrous drama
with which France was threatened. The massacre -
of M. de Flesselles and M. de Launay drew bitter
tears from the Queen, and the idea that the King
had lost such devoted subjects wounded her to the
heart.

The character of the moyement was no longer
merely that of a popular insurrection ; cries of “Vive
la Nation! vive la Roi! vive la Liberté!” threw the
strongest light upon the views of the reformers.
Still the people spoke of the King with affection,
and appeared to think him favourable to the national
desire for the reform of what were called abuses ; but
they imagined that he was restrained by the opinions
and influence of the Comte d’Artois and the Queen ;
and thosz two august personages were therefore
objects of hatred to the malcontents. The dangers
incurred by the Comte d'Artois determined the
King's first step with the States-General. He
attended their meeting on the morning of the 15th
of July with his brothers, without pomp or escort;
he spoke standing and uncovered, and pronounced
these memorable words : “I trust myself to you; I
only wish to be at one with my nation, and, counting

1 The Bastille was taken on the 14th July 1789,
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on the affection and fidelity of my subjects, I have

given orders to the troops to remove from Paris

and Versailles.” The King returned on foot from
the chamber of the States-General to his palace;

the deputies crowded after him, and formed his

“escort, and that of the Princes who accompanied

him. The rage of the populace was pointed against

the Comte d’Artois, whose unfavourable opinion of
the double representation was an odious crime in

-their eyes. They repeatedly cried out, “Zke King
Jor ever, in spite of you and your opinions, Monseig-

neur!” One woman had the impudence to come up

to the King and ask #im whether what he had been

doing was done sincerely, and whether he would not

be forced to retract it.

The courtyards of the Chéteau were thronged
with an immense concourse of people; they demanded
that the King and Queen, with their children, should
make their appearance in the balcony. The Queen
gave me the key of the inner doors, which led to
the Dauphin’s apartments, and desired me to go to
the Duchesse de Polignac to tell her that she wanted
her son, and had directed me to bring him myself into
her room, where she waited to show him to the people.
The Duchess said this order indicated that she was
not to accompany the Prince. 1 did not answer;
she squeezed my hand, saying, ‘“Ah! Madame
Campan, what .a blow I receive!” She embraced
the child and me with tears. She knew how much
I loved and valued the goodness and the noble
simplicity of her disposition. 1 endeavoured to re-



w
»

S0 PRIVATE LIFE OF MARIE ANTOINETTE.

assure her by saying that 1 should bring back the
Prince to her ;  but she persisted, and said she under-
stood the order, and knew what it meant. She then
retired ‘to her private room, holding her handker-
chief to her eyes. One of the under-governesses
asked me whether she might go with the Dauphin ;
I told her the Queen had given no order to the
contrary, and we hastened to her Majesty, who was
waiting to lead the Prince to the balcony.

Having executed this sad commission, I went
down into the courtyard, where I mingled with the
crowd. I heard a thousand vociferations; it was
easy to see, by the difference between the language
and the dress of some persons among the mob, that
they were in disguise. A woman, whose face was
covered with a black lace veil, seized me by the arm
with some violence, and said, calling me by my
name, “I know you very well ; tell your Queen not
to meddle with government any- longer; let her
leave her husband and our good States-General to
effect' the happiness of the people.” At the same
moment a man, dressed much in the style of a
market man, with his hat pulled down over his eyes,
seized me by the other arm, and said, “Yes, yes;
tell her over and over again that it will not be with
these States as with the others which produced no
good to the people ; that the nation is too enlightened
in 1789 not to make something more of them; and
that there will not now be seen a deputy of the
tiers-élat makmg a speech with one knee on the
ground tell her this, do you hear ?” T was struck
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with dread ; the Queen then appeared in the balcony.
« Ah!” said the woman in the veil, “ the Duchess is
not with her.” ““No,” replied the man, “but she
is still at Versailles ; she is working underground,
mole-like ; but we shall know how to dig her out.”
The detestable pair moved away from me, and I
re-entered the palace, scarcely able to support my-
self. I thought it my duty to relate the dialogue of
these two strangers to the Queen; she made me
repeat the particulars to the King.

About four in the afternoon I went across the
terrace to Madame Victoire's apartments ; three men
had stopped under the windows of the throne-
chamber. “ Here is that throne,” said one of them
aloud, “the vestiges of which will soon be sought
for.” He added a thousand invectives against their
Majesties. I went in to the Princess, who was at
work alone in her closet, behind a canvas blind,
which prevented her from being seen by those with-
out. The three men were still walking upon the
terrace ; I showed them to her, and told her what
they had said. She rose to take a nearer view
of them, and informed me that one of them was
named Saint Huruge ; that he was sold to the Duc
d’'Orléans, and was furious against government,
because he had been confined once under a lttre de
cachet as a bad character.

The King was not ignorant of these popular
threats ; he also knew the days on which money was
scattered about Paris,.and once or twice the Queen

prevented my going there, saying there would cer- -

3
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tainly be a riot the next day, because she knew that
a quantity of crown pieces had been distributed in
the faubourgs.!

On the evening of the 14th of July the King
came to the Queen’s apartments, where I was with
her Majesty alone: he conversed with her respect-
ing the horrid report disseminated by the factious,
that he had had the Chamber of the National As-
sgmbly undermined, in order to blow it up; but he
added that it became him to treat such absurd
assertions with contempt, as usual; I ventured to
tell him that I had the evening before supped with
M. Begouen, one of the deputies, who said that
there were very respectable persons who thought
that this horrible contrivance had been proposed
without the King’s knowledge. “Then,” said his
Majesty, “as the idea of such an atrocity was not
revolting to so worthy a man as M. Begouen, I will
order the chamber to be examined early to-morrow
morning.” In fact, it will be seen by the King’s
speech to the National Assembly, on the 15th of
July, that the suspicions excited obtained his atten-
tion. “1I know,” said he in the speech in question,
“ that unworthy insinuations have been made; I
know there are those who have dared to assert that
your persons are not safe;.can it be necessary to
give you assurances upon the subject of reports so

1 T haye seen a six-franc crown piece, which certainly served
to pay some wretch on the night of the rzth of July; the words
“ Midnight, 12th July, three pistols, " were rather deeply engraven
on it. They were no doubt a password for the first insurrection.

- —Madame Campan.



TSR . : X

THE QUEEN'S FOREBODINGS. 53

‘culpable, denied beforehand by my known char-
acter ?” ; _

The proceedings of the 15th of July produced no
mitigation of the disturbances. Successive deputa-
tions of poissardes came to request the King to visit
Paris, where his presence alone would put an end to
the insurrection.

" On the 16th a committee was held in the King’s
apartments, at which a most important question was
discussed: whether his Majesty should quit Versailles
and set off with the troops whom he had recently
ordered to withdraw, or go to Paris to tranquillise
the minds of the people. The Queen was for the
departure. On the evening of the 16th she made
me take all her jewels out of their cases, to collect
them in one small box, which she might carry off in
her own carriage. With my assistance she burnt a
large quantity of papers; for Versailles was then
threatened with an early visit of armed men from
Paris.

The Queen, on the morning of the 16th, before
attending another committee at the King’s, having
got her jewels ready, and looked over all her papers,
gave me one folded up but not sealed, and desired
. me not to read it until she should give me an order
to do so from the King’s room ; and that then I was
to execute its contents; but she returned herself
about ten in the morning ; the affair was decided ;
the army was to go away without the King; all #
those who were in imminent danger were to go at
the same time. * The King will go to the Hoétel
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de Ville to-morrow,” said the Queen to me; “ he’
did not choose this course for himself; there were
long debates on the question; at last the King put
an end to them by rising and sayirg, ¢ Well, gentle-
men, we must decide ; am I to go or to stay? I am
ready to do either. The majority were for the King's
stay ; time will show whether the right choice has
been made.” 1 returned the Queen the paper she
had given me, which was now useless : she read it to
me ; it contained her orders for tae departure; I
was to go with her, as well on account of my office
about her person as to serve as a teacher to Ma-
dame. The Queen tore the paper, and said, with
tears in her eyes, “ When I wrote this I thought it
would be useful, but fate has ordered otherwise, to
the misfortune of us all, as I much fear.”

After the departure of the troops the new admi-
nistration received thanks ; M. Necker was recalled.
The artillery soldiers were undoubtedly corrupted.
“ Wherefore all these guns ?” exclaimed the crewds
of women who filled the streets: “Will you kill
your mothers, your wives, your children ?”—*¢ Don’t
be afraid,” answered the soldiers; ‘“these guns shall
rather be levelled against the tyrant’s palace than
against you!”

The Comte d’Artois, the Prince de Condé, and
their children set off at the same time with the
troops. The Duc and Duchesse de Polignac, their
daughter, the Duchesse de Guiche, the Comtesse
Diana de Polignac, sister of the Duke, and the Abbé

‘de Baliviere, also emigrated on the same :night.
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“Nothing could be more affecting than the parting
of the Queen and her friend; extreme misfortune
had banished from their minds the recollection of
differences to which political opinions alone had
given rise. The Queen several times wished to go
and embrace her once more after their sorrowful
adieu, but she was too closely watched. She desired
M. Campan to be present at the departure of the
Duchess, and gave him a purse of five hundred louis,
desiring him to insist upon her allowing the Queen
to lend ber that sum to defray her expenses on the
road. The Queen added that she knew her situa-
tion ; that she had often calculated her income, and
the expenses occasioned by her place at Court ; that
both husband and wife having no other fortune than
their official salaries, could not possibly have saved
anything, however differently people might think at
Paris. M. Campan remained till midnight with the -
Duchess to see her enter her carriage. She was
disguised as a femme de chambre, and got up in front
of the berlin ; she requested M. Campan to speak of

- her frequently to the Queen, and then quitted for

ever that palace, that favour, and that influence

which had raised her up such cruel enemies. On
their arrival at Sens the travellers found the people
in a state of insurrection ; they asked all those who
came from Paris whether the Polignacs were still
with the Queen. A group of inquisitive persons put
that question to the Abbé de Baliviére, who answered
them in the firmest tone, and with the most cavalier
air, that they were far enough from Versailles, and
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that we had got rid of all such bad people.. At the

following stage the postilion got on the doorstep and

said to the Duchess, “ Madame, there are some good

- people left in the world: I recognised you all at Sens.”
« They gave the worthy fellow a handful of gold.

On the breaking out of these disturbances an
old man above seventy years of age gave the Queen
an extraordinary proof of attachment and fidelity.
M. Péraque, a rich inhabitant of the colonies, father
of M. d'Oudenarde, was coming from Brussels to
Paris; while changing horses he was met by a
young man who was leaving France, and who recom-
mended him if he carried any letters from foreign
countries to burn them immediately, especially if
he had any for the Queen. M. Péraque had one
from the Archduchess, the Gouvernante of the
Low Countries, for her Majesty. He thanked the
stranger, and carefully concealed his packet; but as
he approached Paris the insurrection appeared to
him so general and so violent, that he thought no
means could be relied on for securing this letter
from seizure. He took upon him to unseal it, and
learned it by heart, which was a wonderful effort
for a man at his time of life, as it contained four
pages of writing. On his arrival at Paris he wrote
it down, and then presented it_to the Queen, telling
her that the heart of an old and faithful subject had
given him courage to form and execute such a re-
solution. The Queen received M. Péraque in her
closet, and expressed her gratitude in an affecting
manner most honourable to the worthy old man.
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Her Majesty thought the young stranger who had
apprised him of the state of Paris was Prince
George of Hesse-Darmstadt, who was very devoted
to her, and who left Paris at that time.

The Marquise de Tourzel replaced the Duchesse
de Polignac. She was selected by the Queen as being
the mother of a family and a woman of irreproach-
able conduct, who had superintended the education
of her own daughters with the greatest success.

The King went to Paris on the 17th of July, ac-
companied by the Maréchal de Beauvau, the Duc de
Villeroi, and the Duc de Villequier; he also took
the Comte d’'Estaing, and the Marquis de Nesle,
who were then very popular, in his carriage.
Twelve Body Guards, and the town guard of Ver-
sailles, escorted him to the Pont du Jour, near
Sevres, where the Parisian guard was waiting for
him. His departure caused equal grief and alarm
to his friends, notwithstanding the calmness. he ex-
hibited. The Queen restrained her tears, and shut
herself up in her private rooms with her family.
She sent for several persons belonging to her
Court ; their doors were locked. Terror had driven
them away. The silence of death reigned through-
out the Palace; they hardly dared hope that the
King would return.? The Queen had a robe

! The Memoirs of the Marquise de Tourzel, edited by the Duc
des Cars, have just been published in Paris, and are noteworthy
also as containing the last authentic portrait of the unhappy Queen,
n facsimile from a siriking crayon drawing by one of her attend-
ants found after her execution hidden behind a door in the prison.
- * See Ferritres' Memoirs—Note by the Editor.
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prepared for her, and sent orders to her stables
to have all her equipages ready. She wrote an
address of a few lines for the Assembly, determin-
ing to go there with her family, the officers of her
Palace, and her servants, if the King should be
detained prisoner at Paris. She got this address
by heart; it began with these words: “Gentle-
men, I come to place in your hands the wife
and family of your sovereign; do not suffer
those who have been united in Heaven to be
put asunder on earth.” While she was repeating
this address she was often interrupted by tears,
and sorrowfully exclaimed :  7Vey will not let him
veturn!”

It was past four when the King, who had left
Versailles at ten in the morning, entered the Hoétel
de Ville. At length, at six in the evening M. de
Lastours, the King’s first page, arrived; he was
not half an hour in coming from the Barriere de la
Conférence to Versailles. Everybody knows that
the moment of calm in Paris was that in which
the unfortunate sovereign received the tri-coloured
cockade from M. Bailly, and placed it in his hat. A
shout of ““ Vive le Roi!” arose on all sides; it had
not been once uttered before. The King breathed
again, and with tears in his eyes-exclaimed that his
heart stood in need of such greetings from the
people. One of his equerries (M. de Cubiéres) told
him the people loved him, and that he could never
have doubted it. The King replied in accents of
profound sensibility : ““ Cubieres, the French loved
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Henri 1V., and what King ever better deserved to
be beloved ? ! v

His return to Versailles filled his family with
inexpressible joy; in the arms of the Queen, his
sister, and his children, he congratulated himself
that no accident had happened; and he repeated
several times, “Happily no blood has been shed,
and I swear that never shall a drop of French blood
be shed by my order,” —a determination full of
humanity, but too openly avowed in such factious
times !

The King's last measure raised a hope in many
that general tranquillity would soon enable the
Assembly to resume its labours, and promptly

1 Louis XVI. cherished the memory of Henri IV.: at that
moment he thought of his deplorable end ; but he long before
regarded him as a model. Soulavie says on the subject: “A
tablet with the inscription Resurrexit placed upon the pedestal
of Henri IV.’s statue on the accession of Louis XVI. flattered
him exceedingly. ¢ What a fine compliment,’ said he, ‘if it were
true! Tacitus himself never wrote anything so concise or so happy.’
Louis XVI. wished to take the reign of that Piince for a model.
In the following year the party that raised a commotion among
the people on account of the dearness of corn removed the
tablet inscribed Resurrexit from the statue of Henri IV., and
placed it under that of Louis XV., whose memory was then de-
tested, as he was believed to have traded on the scarcity of food.
Louis XVI., who was informed of it, withdrew into his private
apartments, where he was found in a fever shedding tears; and
during the whole of that day he could not be prevailed upon
either to dine, walk out, or sup. From this circumstance we
may judge what he endured at the commencement of the Revolu-
tion, when he was accused of not loving the French people.”*
—Note by the Editor,

* This phrase, Resurrexit, may be compared with the Ludovico Reduce,
Henricus Redivivus, prepsred by Beugnot for a copy of the same statue on
the atrival of Louis XVIIL at Paris in 1814.—See Beugnot, vol. ii. p. 137.
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bring its session to a close. The Queen never
flattered herself so far; M. Bailly’s speech to the
- King had equally wounded her pride and hurt her
feelings—“ Henri IV. conquered his people, and
here are the people conquering their King.” The
word “conguest” offended her ; she never forgave
M. Bailly for this fine academical phrase.

Five days after the King’s visit to Paris, the
departure of the troops, and the removal of the
Princes and some of the nobility whose influence
seemed to alarm the people, a horrible deed com-
mitted by hired assassins proved that the King had
descended the steps of his throne without having
effected a reconciliation with his people.

M. Foulon, adjoint to the administration while
M. de Broglie was commanding the army assembled
at Versailles, had concealed himself at Viry. He
was there recognised, and the peasants seized him,
and dragged him to the Hotel de Ville. The cry
for death was heard; the electors, the members of
committee, and M. de La Fayette, at that time the
idol of Paris, in vain endeavoured to save the unfor-
tunate man. After tormenting him in a manner
which makes humanity shudder, his body was dragged
about the streets, and to the Palais Royal,-and his
heart was carried by women in the midst of a bunch
of white carnations !

M. Berthier, M. Foulon’s son-in-law, intendant
of Paris, was seized at Compiégne, at the same

1 This horrible circumstance is related nowhere else. No
record of the time makes any mention of it.—Note by the Editor.
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time that his father-in-law was seized at Viry, and
treated with still more relentless cruelty.

The Queen was always persuaded that this hor- -
rible deed was occasioned by some piece of indis-
cretion ; and she informed me that M. Foulon had
drawn up two memorials for the direction of the
King's conduct at the time of his being called to
Court on the removal of M. Necker; and that these
memorials contained two schemes of totally different
nature for extricating the King from the dreadful
situation in which he was placed. In the first of
these projects M. Foulon expressed himself without
reserve respecting the criminal views of the Duc
d'Orléans; said that he ought to be put under
arrest, and that no time should be lost in com-
mencing a prosecution against him, while the cri-
minal tribunals were still in existence; he likewise
pointed out such deputies as should be apprehended,
and advised the King not to separate himself from
his army until order was restored.

His other plan was that the King should make
himself master of the revolution before its complete
explosion; he advised his Majesty to go to the
Assembly, and there, in person, to demand the
cakhiers) and to make the greatest sacrifices to
satisfy the legitimate wishes of the people, and not
to give the factious time to enlist them in aid of
their criminal designs. Madame Adelaide had M.

1 Cahiers, the memorials or lists of complamts, grievances,
and requirements of the electors drawn up by the pnmary assem-
blies and sent with the deputies.
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Foulon’s two memorials read to her in the presence
of four or five persons. One of them® was very in-
timate with Madame de Staél, and that intimacy
gave the Queen reason to believe that the oppo-
site party had gained information of M. Foulon's
schemes.

It is known that young Barnave, during an
aberration of mind, since expiated by sincere re-
pentance, and even by death, uttered these atrocious
words : “Js then the blood now flowing so pure?”
when M. Berthier's son came to the Assembly to
implore the eloquence of M. de Lally to entreat
that body to save his father's life. I have since
been informed that a son of M. Foulon, having
returned to France after these first ebullitions of
the Revolution, saw Barnave, and gave him one of
those memorials, in which M. Foulon advised Louis
XVI. to prevent the revolutionary explosion by
voluntarily granting all that the Assembly required
before the- 14th of July. “Read this memorial,”
said he; “I have brought it to increase your re-
morse : it is the only revenge I wish to inflict on
you.” Barnave burst into tears, and said to him all
that the profoundest grief could dictate.

1 Comte Louis de Narbonne.



CHAPTER IV.

Creation of the national guard—Departure of the Abbé de Vermend
—The Queen desires Madame Campan to portray his character
—The French guards quit Versailles—Entertainment given by
the Body Guards to the regiment of Flanders—The King, the
Queen, and the Dauphin are present at it—Proceedings of the
sth and 6th of October—Detestable threats against the Queen
—Devotedness of one of the Body Guard—The life of Marie An-
toinette in danger—The Queen is required to appear on the
balcony—The royal family repair to Paris—Residence at the
Tuileries—Change of feeling—The Queen applauded with en-
thusiasm by the women of the populace—Private life—Ingenu-
ous observations of the Dauphin—It is proposed that the Queen
shall quit her family and France—Her noble refusal—She
devotes herself to the education of her children—Picture of the
Court—Anecdote of Luckner—Exasperated state of feeling.

AFTER the 14th of July, by a manceuvre for which
the most skilful factions of any age might have
envied the Assembly, the whole population of France
was armed and organised into a national guard. A
report was spread throughout France on the same
day, and almost at the same hour, that four thousand
brigands were marching towards such towns or vil-
lages as it was wished to induce to take arms.
Never was any plan better laid; terror spread at

.’ For an account of the local effects of this strange genefal
panic, see the Memoirs of Beugnot, vol. i. p. 1z0.
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the same moment all over the kingdom. In 1791
a peasant showed me a steep rock in the mountains
of the Mont d’Or on which his wife concealed her-
self on the day when the four thousand brigands
were to attack their village, and told me they had
been obliged to make use of ropes to let her down
from the height which fear alone had enabled her to
climb.

Versailles was certainly the place where the na-
tional military uniform appeared most offensive. All
the King's valets, even of the lowest class, were
metamorphosed into lieutenants or captains ; almost
all the musicians of the chapel ventured one day to
make their appearance at the King's mass in a
military costume; and an Italian soprano adopted
the uniform of a grenadier captain. The King was
very much offended at this conduct, and forbade
his servants to appear in his presence in so unsuit-
able a dress.

The departure of the Duchesse de Polignac
naturally left the Abbé de Vermond exposed to all
the dangers of favouritism. He was already talked
of as an adviser dangerous to the nation. The
Queen was alarmed at it, and recommended him to
remove to Valenciennes, where Count Esterhazy
was in command. He was obliged to leave that
place in a few days and set off for Vienna, where he
remained. '

On the night of the 17th of July the Queen,
being unable to sleep, made me watch by her until
three in the morning. 1 was extremely surprised
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to hear her say that it would be a very long time
before the Abbé de Vermond would make his appear-
ance at Court again, even if the existing ferment
should subside, because he would not readily be
forgiven for his attachment to the Archbishop of
Sens ;' and that she had lost in him a very devoted
servant. Then, on a sudden, she remarked to me,
that although he was not much prejudiced against
me I could not have much regard for him, because
he could not bear my father-in-law to hold the place
of secretary of the closet. She went on to say that
I must have studied the Abbé’s character, and, as I
had sometimes drawn her portraits of living charac-
ters, in imitation of those which were fashionable in
the time of Louis XIV., she desired me to sketch
that of the Abb¢, without any reserve. My aston-
ishment was extreme ; the Queen spoke of the man
who, the day before, had been in the greatest inti-
macy with her with the utmost coolness, and as a
person whom, perhaps, she might never see again!
I remained petrified ; the Queen persisted, and told
me that he had been the enemy of my family for
more than twelve years, without having been able
to injure it in her opinion; so that I had no occa-
sion to.dread his return, however severely I might
depict him. I promptly summarised my ideas
about the favourite ; but I only remember that the
portrait was drawn with sincerity, except that every-
thing which could denote antipathy was kept out of

' Cardinal Loménie de Brienne, the dismissed minister,



\

66 PRIVATE LIFE OF MARIE ANTOINETTE.

it. I shall make but one extract from it: I said
that he had been born talkative and indiscreet, and
had assumed a character of singularity and abrupt-
ness in order to conceal those two failings. The
Queen interrupted me by saying, “Ah! how true
that is!” I have since discovered that, notwith-
standing the high favour which the Abbé de Ver-
mond enjoyed, the Queen took precautions to guard
herself against an ascendency the consequences of
which she could not calculate.

On the death of my father-in-law his executors
placed in my hands a box containing a few jewels
deposited by the Queen with M. Campan on the
departure from Versailles of the 6th of October, and
two sealed packets, each inscribed, “ Campan will
take care of these papers for me.” 1 took the two
packets to her Majesty, who kept the jewels and the
larger packet, and returning me the smaller, said,
“Take care of that for me as your father-in-law
did.”

After the fatal 1oth of August 1792, when
my house was about to be surrounded, I de-
termined to burn the most interesting papers of
which I was the depositary; I thought it my duty,
however, to open this packet, which it might perhaps
be necessary for me to preserve at all hazards. I
saw that it contained a letter from the Abbé de Ver-
mond to the Queen. I have already related that in

1 The day of the attack on the Tuileries, slaughter of the
Swiss guard, and suspension of the King from his functions.
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the earlier days of Madame de Polignac’s favour he
determined to remove from Versailles, and that the
Queen recalled him by means of the Comte de
Mercy. This letter contained nothing but certain
conditions for his return ; it was the most whimsical
of treaties ; I confess I greatly regretted being under
the necessity of destroying it. He reproached the
Queen for her infatuation for the Comtesse Jules,
her family, and society ; and told her several truths
about the possible consequences of a friendship
which ranked that lady among the favourites of
the Queens of France, a title always disliked by
the nation. He complained that his advice was
neglected ; and then came to the conditions of his
return to Versailles ; after strong assurances that he
would never, in all his life, aim at the higher church
dignities, he said that he delighted in an unbounded
confidence, and that he asked but two things of her
Majesty as essential : the first was, not to give him
her orders through any third person, and # write to
him herself; he complained much that he had had no
letter in her own hand since he had left Vienna ; then
he demanded of her an income of eighty thousand
livres, in ecclesiastical benefices; and concluded by
saying that if she condescended to assure him her-
self that she would set about procuring him what
he wished, her letter would be sufficient in itself to
show him that her Majesty had accepted the two con-
ditions he ventured to make respecting his return.
No doubt the letter was written; at least it is
very certain that the benefices were granted, and that
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his absence from Versailles lasted only a single
week.

In the course of July 1789 the regiment of
*French guards, which had been in a state of insur-
rection from the latter end of June, abandoned its
colours. One single company of grenadiers remained
faithful to its post at Versailles. M. the Baron de
Leval was the captain of this company. He came
every evening to request me to give the Queen an
account of the disposition of his soldiers; but M. de
LLa Fayette having sent them a note, they all deserted
during the night and joined their comrades, who
were enrolled in the Paris guard; so that Louis
XVI. on rising saw no guard whatever at the
various posts entrusted to them.

The decrees of the 4th of August, by which all
privileges were abolished, are well known.! The
King sanctioned all that tended to the diminution of
his own personal gratifications, but refused his con-
sent to the other decrees of that tumultuous night;
this refusal was one of the chief causes of the fer-
ments of the month of October.

1 «Tt was during the night of the 4th of August,” says Rivarol,
“that the demagogues of the nobility, wearied with a protracted
discussion upon the rights of man, and burning to signalise their
zeal, rose all at once, and with loud exclamations called for the
last sighs of the feudal system. This demand electrified the
Assembly. All heads were frenzied. The younger sons of good
families, having nothing, were deglighted to sacrifice their too for-
tunate elders upon the altar of the country; a few country curés
felt no less pleasure in renouncing the benefices of others; but
what posterity will hardly believe is that the same enthusiasm
infected the whole nobility ; zeal walked hand in hand with
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In the early part of September meetings were
held at the Palais Royal, and propositions made to
go to Versailles: it was said to be necessary to
separate the King from his evil counsellors, and .
keep him, as well as the Dauphin, at the Louvre.
The proclamations by the officers of the commune
for the restoration of tranquillity were ineffectual ;
but M. de La Fayette succeeded this time in dis-
persing the populace. The Assembly declared itself
permanent ; and during the whole of September,
in which no doubt the preparations were made for
the great insurrections of ‘the following month, the
Court was not disturbed.

The King had the Flanders regiment removed
to Versailles ; unfortunately the idea of the officers
of that regiment fraternising with the Body Guards
was conceived, and the latter invited the former to
a dinner, which was given in the great theatre of
Versailles, and not in the Salon of Hercules, as
some chroniclers say.. Boxes were appropriated to
various persons who wished to be present at this
entertainment. The Queen told me she had been

malevolence ; they made sacrifice upon sacrifice. And as in
Japan the point of honour lies in a man’s killing himself in the
presence of the person who has offended him, so did the deputies
of the nobility vie in striking at themselves and their constituents.
fl‘he people who were present at this noble conflict increased the
Intoxication of their new allies by their shouts ; and the deputies
of the commons, seeing that this memorable night would only
afford them profit without honour, consoled their selflove by
wondering at what Nobility, grafted upon the Third Estate, could
do. They named that night the night of dupes; the nobles
called it the night of sacrifices”—Note by the Editor.
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advised to make her appearance on the occasion ;
but that, under existing circumstances. she thought
such a step might do more harm than good; and
~ that, moreover, neither she nor the King ought
directly to have anything to do with such a festival.
She ordered me to go, and desired me to observe
everything closely, in order to give a faithful account
of the whole affair.

The tables were set out upon the stage ; at them
were placed one of the Body Guard and an officer of
the Flanders regiment alternately. There was a
numerous orchestra in the room, and the boxes were
filled with spectators. The air, “O Richard ! & mon
Roz!" was played, and shouts of “Vzve le Roi” shook
the roof for several minutes. I had with me one of
my nieces, and a young person brought up with
Madame by her Majesty. They were crying ““ Vzve
le Roz” with all their might when a deputy of the
Third Estate, who was in the next box to mine, and
whom I had never seen, called to them, and re-
proached them for their exclamations; it hurt him,
he said, to see young and handsome Frenchwomen
brought up in such servile habits, screaming so out-
rageously for the life of one man, and with true
fanaticism exalting him in their hearts above even
their dearest relations : he told them what contempt
worthy American women would feel on seeing
Frenchwomen thus corrupted from their earliest
infancy. My niece replied with tolerable spirit, and
I requested the deputy to put an end to the subject,
which could by no means afford him any satisfac-
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tion, inasmuch as the young persons who were with
me lived, as well as myself, for the sole purpose
of serving and loving the King. While I was
speaking what was my astonishment at seeing the
King, the Queen, and the Dauphin enter the
chamber! It was M. de Luxembourg who had
effected this change in the Queen’s determination.
The enthusiasm became general ; the moment
their Majesties arrived the orchestra repeated the
air I have just mentioned, and afterwards played a
song in the Deserter, ““ Can we grieve those whom
we love 2” which also made a powerful impression
upon those present : on all sides were heard praises
of their Majesties, exclamations of affection, expres-
sions of regret for what they had suffered, clapping of
hands, and shouts of the *“ "zve le Roi, vive la Reine,
vive le Dauphin!” It has been said that white
cockades were worn on this occasion ; that was not
the case ; the fact is, that a few young men belong-
ing to the National Guard of Versailles, who were
invited to the entertainment, turned the white lining
of their national cockades outwards. All the military
men quitted the hall, and reconducted the King and
his family to their apartments. There was intoxica-
tion in these ebullitions of joy: a thousand extra-
vagances were committed by the military, and many
of them danced under the King’s windows ; a soldier
belonging to the Flanders regiment climbed up to
the balcony of the King’s chamber in order to shout
“ Vive le Roi” nearer his Majesty ; this very soldier,
as I have been told by several officers of the corps,
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was one of the first and most dangerous of their
insurgents in the riots of the sth and 6th of October.
On the same evening another soldier of that regi-
ment killed himself with a sword. One of my
relations, chaplain to the Queen, who supped with
me, saw him stretched out in a corner of the Place
d’Armes; he went to him to give him spiritual
assistance, and received his confession and his last
sighs. He destroyed himself out of regret at having
suffered himself to be corrupted by the enemies of
. his King, and said that, since he had seen him and
the Queen and the Dauphin, remorse had turned
his brain.

I returned home, delighted with all that I had
seen. I found a great many people there. M. de
Beaumetz, deputy for Arras, listened to my descrip-
tion with a chilling air, and when I had finished,
told me that all that had passed was terrific; that
he knew the disposition of the Assembly, and that
the greatest misfortunes would follow the drama of
that night; and he begged my leave to withdraw
that he might take time for deliberate reflection
whether he should on the very next day emigrate,
or pass over to the left side of the Assembly. He
adopted the latter course, and never appeared again
among my associates.

On the 2d of October the military entertainment
was followed up by a breakfast given at the hétel of
the Body Guards. It is said that a discussion took
place whether they should not march against the
Assembly ; but I am utterly ignorant of what passed
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at that breakfast. From that moment Paris was
constantly in commotion; there were continual
mobs, and the most virulent proposals were heard
in all public places ; the conversation was invariably
about proceeding to Versailles, The King and
Queen did not seem apprehensive of such a
measure, and took no precaution against it; even
when the army had actually left Paris, on the evening
of the s5th of October, the King was shooting at
Meudon, and the Queen was alone in her gardens
at Trianon, which she then beheld for the last time
in her life. She was sitting in her grotto absorbed
in painful reflection, when she received a note from
the Comte de Saint Priest, entreating her to return
to Versailles. M. de Cubic¢res at the same time
went off to request the King to leave his sport and
return to the Palace ; the King did so on horseback,
and very leisurely. A few minutes afterwards he
was informed that a numerous body of women,
which preceded the Parisian army, was at Chaville,
at the entrance of the avenue from Paris.

The scarcity of bread and the entertainment of
. the Body Guards were the pretexts for the insur-
rection of the sth and 6th of October 1789 ; but it is
clear to demonstration that this new movement of
the people was a part of the original plan of the
factious, insomuch as, ever since the beginning of
September, a report had been industriously c1rculated
that the King intended to withdraw, with his famn]y
and ministers, to some stronghold ; and at all the
popular assemblies there had been always a great
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deal said about going to Versailles to seize the
King.

At first only women showed themselves; the
latticed doors of the Chateau were closed, and the
Body Guard and Flanders regiment were drawn up
in the Place d’Armes. As the details of that dread-
ful day are given with precision in several works, I
will only observe that consternation and disorder
reigned throughout the interior of the Palace.

I was not in attendance on the Queen at this
~time. M. Campan remained with her till two in
the morning. As he was leaving her she conde-
scendingly, and with infinite kindness, desired him to
make me easy as to the dangers of the moment, and
to repeat to me M. de La Fayette's own words,
which he had just used on soliciting the royal family
to retire to bed, undertaking to answer for his army.

The Queen was far from relying upon M. de
La Fayette's loyalty; but she has often told me
that she believed on that day that La Fayette,
having affirmed to the King, in the presence of a
crowd of witnesses, that he would answer for
the army of Paris, would not risk his honour as a ,
commander, and was sure of being able to redeem
his pledge. She also thought the Parisian army
was devoted to him, and that all he said about his
being forced to march upon Versailles was mere
pretence.’

On the first intimation of the march of the
Parisians the Comte de Saint Priest prepared
Rambouillet for the reception of the King, his

-
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family, and suite, and the carriages were even drawn
out ; but a few cries of “ Vzve le Roz!" when the
women reported his. Majesty's favourable answer,
occasioned the intention of going away to be given
up, and orders were given to the troops to with-
draw.! The Body Guards were, however, assailed
with stones and musketry while they were passing
from the Place d’Armes to their hotel. Alarm re-
vived; again it was thought necessary that the
royal family should go away; some carriages still
remained ready for travelling ; they were called for ;
they were stopped by a wretched player belonging
to the theatre of the town, seconded by the mob:
the opportunity for flight had been lost.

The insurrection was directed against the Queen
in particular ; I shudder even now at the recollection
of the poizssardes, or rather furies, who wore white
aprons, which they screamed out were intended to
receive the bowels of Marie Antoinette, and that
they would make cockades of them, mixing the most
obscene expressions with these horrible threats.

The Queen went to bed at two in the morning,
and even slept, tired out with the events of so
distressing a day. She had ordered her two women
to go to bed, imagining there was nothing to dread,
at least, for that night ; but the unfortunate Princess
was indebted for her life to that feeling of attach-
ment which prevented their obeying her. My sister

* Compare this account with the particulars given in the
Memoirs of Ferrires, Weber, and Bailly.—Note by the Editor.
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who was one of the ladies in question, informed me
next day of all that I am about to relate.

On leaving the Queen’s bed-chamber these ladies
called their femmes de chamébre, and all four remained
sitting together against her Majesty’s bedroom
door. About half-past four in the morning they
heard horrible yells and discharges of firearms; one
ran to the Queen to awaken her and get her out
of bed; my sister flew to the place from which the
tumult seemed to proceed ; she opened the door of
the antechamber which leads to the great guard-room,
and beheld one of the Body Guard holding his musket
across the door, and attacked by a mob, who were
striking at him; his face was covered with blood ;
he turned round and exclaimed: *“ Save the Queen,
madame ; they are come to assassinale her.” She
hastily shut the door upon the unfortunate victim of
duty, fastened it with the great bolt, and took the
same precaution on leaving the next room. On
reaching the Queen’s chamber she cried out to her,
“Get up. Madame ; don't stay to dress yourself,; fly
to the King's apartment.” The terrified Queen
threw herself out of bed; they put a petticoat upon
her without tying it, and the two ladies conducted
her towards the @i/-de-beeuf’ A door, which led
from the Queen’s dressing-room to that apartment,
had never before been fastened but on her side.
What a dreadful moment! it was found to be

1 The celebrated antechamber at Versailles, lighted by a
bull’s eye or circular window.
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secured on the other side. They knocked re-
peatedly with all their strength; a servant of one
of the King's valets de chambre came and opened
it ; the Queen entered the King’s chamber, but he
was not there. Alarmed for the Queen’s life, he
had gone down the staircases and through the cor-
ridors under the @/-de-beeuf, by means of which he
was accustomed to go to the Queen’s apartments
without being under the necessity of crossing that
room. He entered her Majesty’s room and found
no one there but some Body Guards, who had taken
refuge in it. The King, unwilling to expose their
lives, told them to wait a few minutes, and afterwards
sent to desire them to go to the @#/-de-beenf. Madame
de Tourzel, at that time governess of the Children
of France, had just taken Madame and the Dauphin
to the King’s apartments. The Queen saw her
children again. The reader must imagine this scene
of tenderness and despair.

It is not true that the assassins penetrated to the
Queen’s chamber and pierced the bed with their
swords. The fugitive Body Guards were the only
persons who entered it; and if the crowd had
reached so far they would all have been massacred.
Besides, when the rebels had forced the doors of
the antechamber the footmen and officers on duty,
knowing that the Queen was no longer in her apart-
ments, told them so with that air of truth which
always carries conviction. The ferocious horde in-
stantly rushed towards the @z/-de-beeuf, hoping, no
doubt, to intercept her on her way.

VOL. I - : 31
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Many have asserted that they recognised the
Duc d’'Orléans ih a greatcoat and slouched hat, at
half-past four in the morning, at the top of the
marble staircase, pointing out with his hand the
guardroom, which led to the Queen’s apartments.
This fact was deposed to at the Chatelet by several
individuals in the course of the inquiry instituted
respecting the transactions of the sth and 6th of
October.

The prudence and honourable feeling of several
officers of the Parisian guards, and the judicious
conduct of M. de Vaudreuil, lieutenant-general of
marine, and of M. de Chevanne, one of the King’s
guards, brought about an understanding between
the grenadiers of the national guard of Paris and the
King's guard. The doors of the @/-de-beeuf were
closed, and the antechamber which precedes that room
was filled with grenadiers who wanted to get in to
massacre the guards. M. de Chevanne offered him-
self to them as a victim if they wished for one,
and demanded what they would have. A report had
been spread through their ranks that the Body
Guards set them at defiance, and that they all wore
black cockades. M. de Chevanne showed them that
he wore, as did the corps, the cockade of their uni-
form; and promised that the guards should ex-
change it for that of the nation. This was done ;
they even went so far as to exchange the grenadiers’
caps for the hats of the Body Guards; those who
were on guard took off their shoulder-belts; em-
braces and transports of fraternisation instantly suc-
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ceeded to the savage eagerness to murder the band
which had shown so much fidelity to its sovereién.
The cry was now “ Vivent le Roi, la Nation, et les
Gardes-du-corps ! ‘

The army occupied the Place d’Armes, all the
courtyards of the Chéteau, and the entrance to the
avenue. They called for the Queen to appear in
the balcony : she came forward with Madame and
the Dauphin. There was a cry of “No children.”
Was this with a view to deprive her of the interest
she inspired, accompanied as she was by her young
family, or did the leaders of the democrats hope
that some madman would venture to aim a mortal
blow at her person? The unfortunate Princess cer-
tainly was impressed with the latter idea, for she
sent away her children, and with her hands and eyes
raised towards Heaven, advanced upon the balcony
like a self-devoted victim.

A few voices shouted “ 70 Paris!” The ex-
clamation soon became general. Before the King
agreed to this removal he wished to consult the
National Assembly, and caused that body to be in-
-vited to sit at the Chateau. Mirabeau opposed this
measure. While these discussions were going for-
ward it became more and more difficult to restrain
the immense disorderly multitude. The King, with-
out consulting any one, now said to the people :
“You wish, my children, that I should follow you
to Paris: I consent, but on condition that I shall not
be separated from my wife and family.” The King
added that he required safety also for his guards ;



rdes-du-corps I The guards, with their hats
e air, turned so as to exhibit ‘th‘a- ‘cockade,
‘shouted “Vive le Roi, vive la Nation!” shortly
ﬁfberwards a general discharge of all the muskets
“took place, in token of joy. The ng and Queen

e
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% Madame, the King's daughter, Monsieur, Madame,’
~ Madame Elizabeth, and Madame de Tourzel, were
in the carriage ; the Princesse de Chimay, and the
ladies of the ‘bed-<chamber for the week, the King’s
Sqiﬁ and: servants,’ followed in Court carriages; a
“hundred deputies-in carriages, and the bulk of the
-P.amsran .army, closed the procession.
' The posssardes went before and around the car-
rlagmof their. Majésties, crying, ‘ We shall no longer
- want bread—+we: have the baker ‘the baker's wife,
~ and the baker’s boy with us.”  In the midst of this

- troop of cannibals“the heads of two murdered Body |

- Guards were carried on poles. The monsters, who
made trophxes of them, conceived the horrid idea of
cing a wigmaker of Sévres to dress them up, and
pewder their bloody locks. The unfortunate man
m‘b@ was forced to perform this dreadful work died
in cqnsequcnce of the shock it gave hun

1 Madaqp here the wife of Monsieur le Comte de vaenoe

2 Thiers' Révolution Frangaise, tome i, page 85, says that -

La TFayette “had given orders for disarming the brigands who
carried the heads of two of the Body Guards at the end of their
pikes. This horrible trophy was torn from them, and it is not

e : tmeﬂmtit preceded the King’s carriage.” The Duc d'Orléans
~in his account says, “In going to Versailles at eight in the morn-

answer ed;b}’s*mts of “Vm le Roi, vivent

set off from Versailles-at one o'clock. The Dauphin,. ‘
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-

The progress of the procession was so slow that
it was near six in the evening when this august
family, made prisoners by their own people, ar-
rived at the Hétel de Ville.! Bailly received them
there ; they were placed upon a throne, just when
that of their ancestors had been overthrown. The
King spoke in a firm yet gracious manner ; he said
that /e always came with pleasure and confidence
among the inkabitants of his good city of Paris. M.
Bailly repeated this observation to the representa-
tives of the commune, who came to address the
King; but he forgot the word confidence. ~The
Queen instantly and loudly reminded him of the
omission. = The King and Queen, their children, and
Madame Elizabeth, retired to the Tuileries. Nothing

ing all seemed quiet till I got to the Bridge of Sevres, there I
met the heads of those unhappy victims of the fury of the
people.”—Anecdotes of the Reign of Louis XVI.

! The King did not leave Versailles till one o’clock. The
Queen, the Dauphin, Madame Royale, Monsieur, Madame Fliza-
beth, and Madame de Tourzel were in his Majesty’s carriage.
The hundred deputies in their carriages came next. A detach-
ment of brigands, bearing the heads of the two Body Guards. in
triumph, formed the advance guard, and set out two hours earlier.
These cannibals stopped a moment at Sevres, and carried their
cruelty to the length-of forcing an unfortunate hairdresser to
dress the gory heads; the bulk of the Parisian army followed
them closely. The King’s carriage was preceded by the pois-
sardes, who had arrived the day before from Paris, and a whole
rabble of prostntutes, the vile refuse of their sex, still drunk with

fury and wme -Several of them rode astride upon cannons,

boasting, in the most horrible songs, of the crimes they had
committed themselves, or seen others commit. Those who were
nearest the King’s sang ballads, the allusions in which
by means of their ﬁgﬂtﬂmﬁ they applied to the Queen.
Waggons, full of corn and flour, which had been brought into
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was ready for their reception there. All the living
rooms had been long given up to persons belonging
to the Court ; they hastily quitted them cn that day,
leaving their furniture, which was purchased by the
Court. The Comtesse de la Marck, sister to the
‘Maréchals de Noailles and de Mouchy, had oc-
cupied the apartments now appropriated to the
Queen. Monsieur and Madame retired to the
Luxembourg. '

The Queen had sent for me on the morning of
the 6th of October, to leave me and my father-in-
law in charge of her most valuable property. She
took away only her casket of diamonds. Comte
Gouvernet de la Tour-du-Pin, to whom the military
government of Versailles was entrusted pro fempore,

Versailles, formed a train escorted by grenadiers, and surrounded
by women and bullies, some armed with pikes, and some carry-
ing long branches of poplar. At some distance this part of the
procession had a most singular effect: it looked like a moving
forest, amidst which shone pike-heads and gun-barrels. In the
paroxysms of their brutal joy the women stopped passengers, and
pointing to the King’s carriage howled in their ears: “ Cheer up,
friends ; we shall no longer be in want of bread : we bring you
the baker, the baker’s wife, and the baker’s little boy.” Behind
his Majesty’s carriage were several of his faithful guards, some on
foot, and some on horseback, most of them uncovered, all unarmed,
and worn out with hunger and fatigue ; the dragoons, the Flanders
regiment, the hundred Swiss, and the national guards, preceded,
accompanied, or followed the file of carriages. I witnessed this
heartrending spectacle ; I saw the ominous procession. In the
midst of all the tumult, clamour, and singing, interrupted by fre-
quent discharges of musketry, which the hand of a monster or a
bungler might so easily render fatal, I saw the Queen preserving
most courageous tranquillity of soul, and an air of nobleness and
inexpressible dignity, and my eyes were suffused with tears of
admiration and grief.—Memoirs of Bertrand de Molleville.
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came and gave orders to the national guard, which
had taken possession of the apartments, to allow us
to remove everything that we should deem necessary
for the Queen’s accommodation.

I saw her Majesty alone in her private apart-
ments a moment before her departure for Paris ;
she could hardly speak ; tears bedewed her face, to
which all the blood in her body seemed to have
rushed ; she condescended to embrace me, gave her
hand to M. Campan’ to kiss, and said to us, *“ Come
immediately and settle at Paris; I will lodge you at
the Tuileries ; come, and do not leave me hence-
forward ; faithful servants at moments like these
become useful friends ; we are lost, dragged away,
perhaps to death; when kings become prisoners
they are very near it.”

I had frequent opportunities during the course of
our misfortunes of observing that the people never
obey factions with steadiness, but casily escape their
control when some cause reminds them of their
duty. As soon as the most violent Jacobins had an
opportunity of seeing the Queen near at hand, of
speaking to her, and of hearing her voice, they be-
came her most zealous partizans; and even when
she was in the prison of the Temple several of those
who had contributed to place her there perished for
having attempted to get her out again.

On the morning of the 7th of October the same

! In the course of that one night my father-in-law declined
from perfect health into a languishing condition, which brought
him to the grave in September 1791.—Madame Campan.
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women who the day before surrounded the carriage
of the august prisoners riding on cannons and utter-
ing the most abusive language, assembled under the
" Queen’s windows upon the terrace of the Chéteau,
and desired to see her. Her Majesty appeared.
There are always among mobs of this description
orators, that is to say, beings who have more assur-
ance than the rest; a woman of this description told
the Queen that she must now remove far from her
all such courtiers as ruin kings, and that she must
love the inhabitants of her good city. The Queen
answered that she had loved them at Versailies, and
would likewise love them at Paris. * Yes, yes,” said
another ; “but on the 14th of Fuly you wanted to be-
szege the city and have it bombarded : and on the 6tk
of October you wanted to fly to the frontiers.” The
Queen replied affably that they had been told so,
and had believed it; that there lay the cause of
the unhappiness of the people and of the best of
kings. A third addressed a few words to her in
German : the Queen told her she did not understand
it ; that she had become so entirely French as even
to have forgotten her mother tongue. This declara-
tion was answered with “ZBravos/” and clapping of
hands ; they then desired her to make a coinpact
with them : “Ah,” said she, “how can I make a
compact with you, since you have no faith in that
which my duty points out to me ; and which I ought
for my own happiness to respect ?” They asked
her for the ribbons and flowers out of her hat; her
Majesty herself unfastened them and gave them ;
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they were divided among the party, which for above
half an hour cried out, without ceasing, “ Marie An-
totnette for ever ! our good Queen for ever!”

Two days after the King’s arrival at Paris the
city and the national guard sent to request the
Queen to appear at the theatre, and prove by her
presence and the King’s that it was with pleasure
they resided in their capital. I introduced the
deputation which came to make this request. Her
Majesty replied that she should have infinite pleasure
in acceding to the invitation of the city of Paris;
but that time must be allowed her to soften the re-
collection of the distressing events which had just
occurred, and from which she had suffered too much.
She added, that having come into Paris preceded
by the heads of the faithful guards who had perished
before the door of their sovereign, she could not
think that such an entry into the capital ought to be
followed by rejoicings; but that the happiness she
had always felt in appearing in the midst of the in-
habitants of Paris was not effaced from her memory,
and that she should enjoy it again as soon as she
found herself able to do so.

Their Majesties’ found some conselation in their

! On the 19th of October, that is to say, thirteen days after
he had taken up his abode at Paris, the King went, on foot and
almost alone, to review some detachments of the national guard.
After the review Louis XVI. met with a child sweeping the street
who asked him for money. The child called the King A7, /e
Chevalier. His Majesty gave him six francs. The little sweeper,
surprised at receiving so large a sum, cried out, “Oh! I haveno .

_ change, you will give me money another time.” A person who

- hd
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private life: from Madame's' gentle manners and
filial affection, from the accomplishments and vi-
vacity of the little Dauphin, and the attention and
tenderness of the pious Princess Elizabeth, they still
derived moments of happiness. The young Prince
daily gave proofs of sensibility and penetration ; he
was not yet beyond female care ; but a private tutor, -
. the Abbé Davout, gave him all the instruction suit-
able to his age ; his memory was highly cultivated,
and he recited verses with much grace and feeling.
The day after the arrival of the Court at Paris,
terrified at hearing some noise in the gardens of the
Tuileries, he threw himself into the arms of the
Queen, crying out, ““ Grand Dieu, mamma ! will it be
yesterday over again 2" A few days after this affect-
ing exclamation he went up to the King, and locked
at him with a pensive air. The King asked hLim
what he wanted ; he answered, that he had some-
thing very serious to say to him. The King having
prevailed on him to explain himself, the young
Prince asked why his people, who formerly loved
him so well, were all at once angry with him; and
what he had done to irritate them so much. His
father took him upon his knees, and spoke to him
nearly as follows: “I wished, child, to render the
people still happier than they were ; T wanted money

accompanied the monarch said to the child, “Keep it all, my
friend, the gentleman is not ckevalier, he is the eldest of the
family.”—Note by the Editor.

! Madame, here, the Princess Marie Thérese, daughtes of
Marie Antoinette.
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to pay the expenses occasioned by wars. | asked
my people for money, as my predecessors have
always done ; magistrates, composing the Parliament,
opposed it, and said that my people alone had a right
to consent to it, I assembled the principal inhabit-
ants of every town, whether distinguished by birth,
fortune, or talents, at Versailles; that is what is
called the States-General. When they were assem-
bled they required concessions of me which I could
not make, either with due respect for myself or with
justice to you, who will be my successor; wicked
men inducing the people to rise have occasioned
the excesses of the last few days; the people must
not be blamed for them.”

The Queen made the young Prince clearly com-
prehend that he ought to treat the commanders of
battalions, the officers of the national guard, and all
the Parisians who were about him, with affability ;
the child took great pains to please all those people,
and when he had had an opportunity of replying
obligingly to the mayor or members of the commune
he came and whispered in his mother’s ear, *“ Was
that right ?”

He requested M. Bailly to show him the shield
of Scipio, which is in the royal library; and M.
Bailly, asking him which he preferred, Scipio or
Hannibal, the young Prince replied without hesita-
tion that he preferred him who had defended his
own country. He gave frequent proofs of ready wit.
One day, while the Queen was hearing Madame
repeat her exercises in ancient history, the young





